


BOARDOFDIRECTORS

Kua Chee Meng, 61, our Administration 
Director, was appointed as our Director 
on 7 March 1977. He oversees our 
administration function, including 
human resources and information 
systems. Since the establishment of 
our Company in 1977, he had been 
involved in various aspects of our 
operations. Over time, he became 
responsible for our finance function 
and was our Finance Director until 
November 2006, when he was 
re-designated as our Administration 
Director. Prior to 1977, he had 
worked in the Kua family business, 
which was involved in the supply of 
general hardware items in Singapore. 
Chee Meng completed his Secondary 
4 education at Thomson Government 
Secondary School. He is a committee 
member of the Singapore Metal and 
Machinery Association. 

Kua Chee Hong, 63, our Non-
Executive Director, was appointed as 
our Director on 11 July 1979. Since the 
establishment of our Company in 1977, 
he had been involved in various aspects 
of our operations. Prior to 1977, Chee 
Hong had worked in the Kua family 
business, which was involved in the 
supply of general hardware items in 
Singapore. He retired in September 
2006 and remains as a Non-Executive 
Director on our Board. He completed 
his Secondary 4 education at Chinese 
High School. 

Hoon Tai Meng, 57, was appointed as 
our Independent Director on 1 March 
2007. He is an Advocate and Solicitor 
of Singapore and is currently a partner 
with M/s KhattarWong. Besides having 
more than 13 years of experience in 
legal practice, he also has approximately 
20 years of experience in financial 
planning and management, audit, tax 
and corporate secretarial functions. He 
has a Bachelor of Commerce degree 
in accountancy from the Nanyang 
University and a LLB (Honours) from 
the University of London. He is a 
Fellow of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants (United 
Kingdom), a Fellow of the Association 
of Chartered Certified Accountants 
(United Kingdom), a Fellow Certified 
Public Accountant (Singapore) 
and a Barrister-at-Law (Middle 
Temple, United Kingdom). He is an 
Independent Director of China Video 
Surveillance Limited, Chip Eng Seng 
Corporation Ltd, Federal International 
(2000) Ltd, Middle East Development 
Singapore Ltd, Time Watch Investment 
Limited and Yangtze  China Investment 
Limited. In addition, he is also a non-
executive non independent director of 
Intraco Limited and Dynamic Colours 
Limited.

Tan Lye Heng Paul, 43, was appointed 
as our Independent Director on 1 
March 2007. He is practicising public 
accountant and the managing director 
of Tan Teo & Partners PAC. He has over 
17 years of auditing experience working 
as an auditor in public accounting 
firms and a 2-year stint as the internal 
auditor of a large Singapore public 
listed company before starting his own 
public accounting practice. He is an 
accredited Quality Assessor of Internal 
Audit Activity. Paul holds a Masters 
Degree in Business Administration 
(MBA) from the University of 
Birmingham, United Kingdom (UK). 
He is a Fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants, UK. 
He is also Independent Director of 
Second Chance Properties Ltd and 
China Sunsine Chemicals Holdings 
Ltd, both companies shares are traded 
in SGX. 
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ExecutiveofficErs

Lim Lian Soon, 55, is our Chief 
Executive Officer – Designate. He will 
be appointed as an Executive Director 
and Chief Executive Officer effective 2 
October 2009. He will be responsible 
for corporate strategic direction and the 
general management of our business 
and operations. He started his career 
as an auditor and subsequently worked 
in various industries in internal audit, 
tax and accounting of which 7 years 
was in the Oil and Gas Service industry. 
He was a Practising Certified Public 
Accountant for 15 years prior to joining 
us. He is a Fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants, UK; 
Fellow Certified Public Accountant, 
Singapore and Fellow Certified Public 
Accountant, Australia. 

Winston Yeo Boon Hai, 47, is our 
Chief Financial Officer. Besides 
overseeing our finance function, he is 
also responsible for risk management 
and investor relations. Prior to joining 
us in November 2006, Winston had 
held senior positions as a corporate 
finance practitioner at local banks and 
corporate finance boutique firms. He 
began his career in public accounting 
before moving on to banking, where 
he undertook various assignments, 
including internal (EDP) auditing, 
financial planning and credit risk 
management. Winston obtained the 
Bachelor of Accountancy degree and 
the Postgraduate Diploma in Systems 
Analysis from the National University 
of Singapore, and is a Fellow of the 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
of Singapore. 

Kua Chee Keong, 55, is our Senior 
Manager in charge of Project 
Sales. He is responsible for the 
sale of our products to users such 
as manufacturers, contractors and 
engineering firms. Chee Keong has 
been involved in sales and marketing 
since joining us in 1977. In October 
2006, he was appointed as head of 
Project Sales. He was also instrumental 
in setting up our electronic resource 
planning system. Chee Keong 
completed his GCE ‘O’ levels at 
Thomson Secondary School. 

Kua Eng Bee, 57, is our Senior Manager 
for Local Sales. He is responsible for 
the sale of our products in Singapore. 
He has been involved in sales and 
marketing since joining us in 1980 
and was appointed as head of Local 
Sales in October 2006. Prior to joining 
us, Eng Bee was with Sembawang 
Shipyard and Sembawang Engineering, 
working on-board ships and taking on 
a variety of responsibilities relevant to 
the fabrication of oil and gas offshore 
structures. Eng Bee completed his GCE 
‘O’ levels at Upper Thomson Secondary 
School.

Kua Chee Kok, 48, is our Senior 
Manager for Warehouse. He is 
responsible for the management of our 
warehouse operations. Since joining 
us in 1977, he was responsible for 
delivery operations and has assisted 
in stock purchases. In 2000, he was 
appointed to head our warehouse 
operations. Prior to the establishment 
of our Company in 1977, Chee Kok 
had worked in the Kua family business, 
which was involved in the supply of 
general hardware items in Singapore. 
Chee Kok did his secondary education 
at Thomson Secondary School. 
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corporate governance Statement

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Sin Ghee Huat Corporation Ltd. (the “Company”) recognises the 
significance of sound corporate governance in ensuring greater transparency, protecting the interests of its shareholders 
as well as strengthening investors’ confidence in its management and financial reporting and is committed to maintaining 
a high standard of corporate governance within the Company. 

The Company is committed to good corporate governance and adheres to the principles and guidelines set out in the Code 
of Corporate Governance 2005 (“Code”).

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The primary role of the Board is to:

(a)	 provide leadership, set strategic goals and ensure that the necessary resources are in place for the Company to meet 
its objectives;

(b)	 establish a framework of controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed;

(c)	 review the performance of management; and

(d)	 ensure that obligations to shareholders and others are understood and met. 

The day-to-day management of the affairs of the Company has been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee (“EC”) comprises Messrs Winston Yeo Boon Hai, Kua Chee Seng, Kua Chee Meng, Kua Eng Wah 
and Kua Eng Watt. Mr Winston Yeo Boon Hai is the Chairman of the EC. 

The EC is delegated with all powers of the Board to conduct and supervise the business and the staff of the Company. The 
EC is responsible for:

(a)	 providing strategic direction to management and setting policies for the Company;

(b)	 providing guidance and supervision to management on the operations of the Company;

(c)	 reviewing and monitoring the financial performance of the Company;

(d)	 reviewing and approving business transactions, up to the limits of its authority;

(e)	 performing any other act as delegated by the Board;

(f)	 approving all hedging transactions; and

(g)	 approving the affixation of the Company’s Common Seal onto any document in accordance with the Company’s 
Articles of Association. 

Over and above the general functions described above, the EC may from time to time be delegated powers by the Board to 
oversee specific matters and/or projects.
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The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings and where circumstances require, ad-hoc meetings are arranged. Board 
meetings are conducted in Singapore and attendance by the Directors has been regular. The attendance of the Directors 
at meetings of the Board and Board committees as well as the number of such meetings during the financial year ended 
30 June 2009 are set out below:

Board Audit Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

    

Name of Director
No. of

meetings Attendance
No. of

meetings Attendance
No. of

meetings Attendance
No. of

meetings Attendance

Hong Pian Tee 4 4 3 3 NA NA 3 3

Kua Chee Seng 4 4 NA NA 3 3 NA NA

Kua Chee Meng 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Kua Eng Wah 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Kua Eng Watt 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Kua Chee Hong 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Hoon Tai Meng 4 4 3 3 3 3 3 3

Tan Lye Heng Paul 4 4 3 3 3 3 3 3

NA: Not Applicable

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has delegated specific functions to the Audit Committee, 
Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee. Each of these committees is governed by its respective Charter and 
is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties. 

The Board has identified areas for which the Board has direct responsibility for decision-making. Major investment and 
funding decisions are approved by the Board. Corporate matters which are specifically reserved for Board approval are:

•	 financial results announcements; 

•	 annual reports and financial statements; 

•	 convening of shareholders’ meetings; 

•	 material acquisitions and disposal of assets; 

•	 appointment of Directors, company secretaries and auditors; 

•	 shares issuances, dividends and other returns to shareholders; and 

•	 corporate or financial restructuring. 

All Directors are updated regularly on changes in the policies of the Company. Newly appointed Directors are briefed on the 
business activities of the Company. The Directors also participate in seminars and discussions to keep themselves updated 
on the latest developments concerning the Company and to keep abreast of the latest relevant regulatory changes.
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Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

The Board comprises four Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and three Non-Executive and Independent 
Directors as at the date of this report. Key information regarding the Directors can be found under the “Board of Directors” 
section of this Annual Report. The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee 
(“NC”). 

The NC is of the view that the Board, with Independent Directors comprising at least one-third of the Board, has an 
independent element ensuring objectivity in the exercise of judgement on corporate affairs independently from the 
management. The NC is also of the view that no individual or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision- 
making process. 

The Board is of the view that its current size, consisting of eight Directors, is appropriate, taking into account the nature 
and scope of the operations of the Company. 

Pursuant to an announcement made on 25 August 2009, Mr Lim Lian Soon will be appointed as an Executive Director and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company effective 2 October 2009. He joined the Company on 3 September 2009 as Chief 
Executive Officer-Designate.

The Board considers that its composition of executive and non-executive Directors presents a mix of knowledge, business 
network and extensive business and commercial experience. This balance is important in ensuring that the strategies 
proposed by management are fully discussed and examined, taking into account the long-term interests of the Company.

Principle 3: Role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and their responsibilities are clearly defined to ensure 
a balance of power and authority within the Company. 

The Chairman of the Board is Mr Hong Pian Tee. As Chairman of the Board, Mr Hong Pian Tee leads the Board to ensure 
its effectiveness on all aspects of its role, including ensuring effective communication with shareholders and facilitating the 
contribution of Non-Executive Directors. Upon his retirement at the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), he 
will accordingly relinquish his position as the Chairman of the Board.

The Chief Executive Officer, Mr Kua Chee Seng, has full executive responsibilities of the business and operational decisions 
of the Company. Mr Kua Chee Seng shall relinquish his position as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 1 October 
2009 and be replaced by Mr Lim Lian Soon (currently Chief Executive Officer-Designate).

Principle 4: Board Membership

The NC comprises Messrs Hoon Tai Meng, Kua Chee Seng and Tan Lye Heng Paul, majority of whom are independent. 
Mr Hoon Tai Meng, an Independent Director, is the Chairman of the NC. Mr Hoon is not associated with any substantial 
shareholder of the Company, thus complying with the requirement in Guideline 4.1 of the Code.
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The responsibilities of the NC are:

(i)	 re-nomination of the Directors having regard to their contribution and performance;

(ii)	 determining annually whether or not a Director is independent; and

(iii)	 deciding on whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director. 

The NC decides how the performance of the Board is to be evaluated and proposes objective performance criteria, subject 
to the approval of the Board. 

In the process of nominating and assessing the new candidates for Directors, the NC assesses the candidates based on 
their background, qualification, work experience and integrity. In the case of candidates for Independent Directors, the 
NC will also consider the independence of such candidates. The NC reports the results of such assessments and makes 
recommendations to the Board.

In accordance with Article 107 of the Company’s Articles of Association, all Directors (except for the Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company, which is equivalent to the position of Managing Director) shall retire from office once at least three years 
by rotation and all newly appointed directors will have to retire at the next AGM following their appointments. The retiring 
directors are eligible to offer themselves for re-election.

Mr Hong Pian Tee, retires by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. He has expressed his desire not to seek re-election.

The NC has nominated the directors retiring by rotation, Mr Tan Lye Heng, Paul and Mr Hoon Tai Meng, for re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM. In considering the nomination, the NC took into account the contribution of the directors with reference 
to their attendance and participation at Board and other Board committee meetings as well as proficiency with which they 
have discharged their responsibilities.

Principle 5: Board Performance

A formal assessment process is in place to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each 
Director to the effectiveness of the Board. 

The evaluation of the Board is conducted annually and an individual assessment of each Director is also undertaken 
annually.

The NC uses its best efforts to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background, experience 
and knowledge to enable balanced and well-considered decisions to be made.
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Principle 6: Access to Information

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, the management is required to provide adequate and 
timely information to the Board on affairs and issues that require the Board’s decision. 

The Board, in fulfilling its responsibilities, will, as a group or individually, when deemed fit, direct the Company to appoint 
professional advisers to render professional advice. The costs associated with such professional services will be borne by 
the Company. 

The Board has separate and independent access to the senior management of the Company and the Company Secretary 
at all times. 

The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and 
that applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies 
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration 
Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) oversees executive remuneration and development in the Company with the goal of 
building a capable and committed management team. 

The RC comprises of Messrs Hong Pian Tee, Hoon Tai Meng and Tan Lye Heng Paul, all of whom are Independent and 
Non-Executive Directors. Mr Hong Pian Tee is the Chairman of the RC. 

The RC will recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and Chief Financial Officer, and determine 
specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer. The recommendations of the RC 
should be submitted for endorsement by the entire Board. All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to the 
Directors’ and Chief Financial Officer’s salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind are covered by the RC.

The RC will also review the remuneration of senior management and employees related to the Directors.

The RC has access to expert professional advice on human resource matters whenever there is a need to consult externally. 
In its deliberations, the RC will take into consideration industry practices and norms in compensation in addition to the 
relative performance of the Company to the industry and the performance of the individuals. No individual will be involved 
in deciding his own remuneration. 

The Executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the Company. The service agreements cover the terms of 
employment, specifically salary and other benefits. The remuneration of each of the Non-Executive Directors is determined 
by his contribution to the Company, taking into account factors such as effort and time committed to the Company as well 
as his responsibilities on the Board. The Board will recommend the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors for approval 
at the AGM.
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The employment of the Executive Directors may be terminated by either party giving to the other party six months’ notice 
in writing.

Remuneration of Directors

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 are set out below:

Name of Director
Fixed

Component
Variable 

Component Directors’ Fee Total 

$250,000 to below $500,000  

Kua Chee Seng(1) 100% – – 100% 
Kua Chee Meng 100% – – 100% 

Below $250,000 

Kua Eng Wah 100% – – 100% 
Kua Eng Watt 100% – – 100% 
Kua Chee Hong – – 100% 100% 
Hong Pian Tee – – 100% 100% 
Hoon Tai Meng – – 100% 100% 
Tan Lye Heng Paul – – 100% 100%

(1)	 The Company had provided Kua Chee Seng with a car.

During the financial year, no share options were granted to any of the Directors.

Remuneration of Executive Officers

Details of remuneration of the top five executives (who are not Directors) of the Company for the financial year ended  
30 June 2009 are set out below:

Name of Executive Officer Designation
Fixed

Component
Variable 

Component Total 

Below $250,000 

Winston Yeo Boon Hai Chief Financial Officer 100% – 100% 

Kua Chee Keng(1) Senior Manager
(Export Sales)

100% – 100%

Kua Chee Keong(2) Senior Manager
(Project Sales)

100% – 100% 

Kua Chee Kok(3) Senior Manager
(Warehouse) 

100% – 100%

Kua Eng Bee(4) Senior Manager
(Local Sales)

100% – 100% 

(1)	 Kua Chee Keng is the sibling of Kua Chee Seng and Kua Chee Meng. He resigned with effect from 1 July 2009. 
(2)	 Kua Chee Keong is the sibling of Kua Chee Seng and Kua Chee Meng. 
(3)	 Kua Chee Kok is the sibling of Kua Chee Seng and Kua Chee Meng. 
(4)	 Kua Eng Bee is the sibling of Kua Eng Wah and Kua Eng Watt.
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Apart from the above, the Company does not have any employee whose remuneration exceeded $150,000 for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2009 and who are immediate family members of the Directors or Substantial Shareholders. 

The aggregate remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 of all the Directors and employees who are related 
to the Directors amounted to approximately $2.3 million. This represents approximately 141% of our profit before income 
tax for the financial year ended 30 June 2009.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability

The Board believes that it should promote best practices in order to build an excellent business for the shareholders as it 
is accountable to shareholders for the performance of the Company.

The Board is mindful of its obligations to provide timely and full disclosure of material information in compliance with 
statutory reporting requirements. Price sensitive information is first publicly released, after the review by the Board, either 
before the Company meets with any group of investors or analysts or simultaneously with such meetings. Financial results 
and annual reports will be announced or issued within legally prescribed periods.

The Board is provided with management accounts of the Company on a quarterly basis.

Principle 11: Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three Independent and Non-Executive Directors, Messrs Tan Lye Heng Paul, Hoon 
Tai Meng and Hong Pian Tee, all of whom have the appropriate accounting experience or related financial management 
expertise. Mr Tan Lye Heng Paul is the Chairman of the AC.

The AC holds periodic meetings to perform the following functions:

(a)	 review with the external auditors the audit plan, their evaluation of the system of internal controls, audit report, 
management letter and management’s response; 

(b)	 review the financial statements before submission to the Board for approval, focusing in particular, on changes 
in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit, the going 
concern statement, compliance with financial reporting standards as well as compliance with the statutory/regulatory 
requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, Companies Act of Singapore and such other 
regulation under the laws of Singapore;

(c)	 review the internal control and procedures and ensure co-ordination between the external auditors and the 
management, review the assistance given by the management to the auditors, and discuss problems and concerns, 
if any, arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss (in the 
absence of the management where necessary);

(d)	 review and discuss with the external auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any 
relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Company’s operating results 
or financial position and the management’s response;

(e)	 consider the appointment or re-appointment of the external auditors and matters relating to resignation or dismissal 
of the auditors;

(f)	 review transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 and Chapter 10 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited;
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(g)	 review any potential conflict of interests;

(h)	 review and approve any procedures for entering into hedging transactions;

(i)	 undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board its findings 
from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC; and

(j)	 generally to undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the SGX-ST Listing Manual, 
and by such amendments made thereto from time to time.

Minutes of the AC meetings are regularly submitted to the Board for its review.

In addition, the AC has the power to conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within the AC Charter. It also has 
full access to and the co-operation of management. The Company has in place a whistle-blowing policy which provides an 
arena for staff to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible irregularities for investigations. 

The AC will meet with the external and internal auditors, in the absence of management, at least once a year. Where the 
external auditor also supplies a substantial volume of non-audit services, the AC will conduct a review to satisfy that the 
nature and extent of such services have not prejudiced the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. The 
AC will constantly bear in mind the need to maintain a balance between the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors and the work carried out by the external auditors based on value-for-money considerations. The external auditors 
have unrestricted access to the AC.

There was no non-audit fee paid to the auditors of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2009.

The AC has recommended to the Board the nomination of LTC LLP, for re-appointment as auditors of the Company at the 
forthcoming AGM.

Principle 12: Internal Controls

Although the Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, it also recognises that no 
cost effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities. A system is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. The AC, on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control 
system put in place by the management and is satisfied that there are adequate internal controls in the Company.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The Company has outsourced the internal audit function to an external professional firm to perform the review and test of 
controls of its processes. The internal auditors report directly to the Chairman of the AC. 

The AC reviews and approves the internal audit plans and reviews the scope and results of the internal audit performed by 
the internal auditors. Scheduled internal audits are carried out by the internal auditors based on the audit plan presented to 
and approved by the AC on a half yearly basis or earlier as appropriate. The internal auditors report to the AC on areas for 
improvement and subsequently follow up to determine the extent of their recommendations that have been implemented. 

24 sin ghee huat CORPORATION LTD. 	 annual report 2009



corporate governance Statement

Based on the internal auditors’ report for the financial year ended 30 June 2009, the Company’s system of internal controls 
was generally adequate and appeared to be working satisfactorily. A number of internal control weaknesses were identified 
during the financial year, all of which have been, or are being, addressed.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders 
Principle 15: Greater Shareholder Participation

The Board recognises the importance of regular and timely communication with the shareholders.

The Company does not practice selective disclosure. In line with continuous obligations of the Company pursuant to the 
Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the Companies Act of Singapore, it is the Board’s 
policy that all shareholders should be equally informed, on a timely basis, of all major developments that will or expect to 
have an impact on the Company.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM to stay informed of the goals of the Company and strategies and to ensure a 
high level of accountability by the management. Notice of AGM will be despatched to shareholders, together with explanatory 
notes or a circular on items of special business (if necessary), at least 14 days before the meeting. The Board welcomes 
questions from shareholders who have an opportunity to raise issues either informally or formally before or at the AGM. The 
Chairmen of the respective AC, NC and RC are normally available at the meeting to answer those questions relating to the 
work of each committee. The external auditors are also present to assist the Board with enquiries relating to the audit.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has issued a guideline on share dealings to all Directors and employees which sets out the code of conduct 
on transactions in the Company’s shares by these persons, the implications of insider trading and general guidance on the 
prohibition against such dealings. 

The Company issues a notification to all officers of the Company informing them that they should not deal in the securities 
of the Company during the period commencing after the end of a financial reporting period and ending on the date of the 
announcement of the financial results in respect of that financial reporting period.

OTHER INFORMATION

Interested Persons Transactions

The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported to the AC and 
that they are transacted on an arm’s length basis, on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests 
of its minority shareholders.

During the financial year, there were no material transactions entered into with interested persons.
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Material Contracts

There were no material contracts of the Company involving the interests of the Directors or Substantial Shareholders during 
the financial year.

Risk Management

Management regularly reviews the Company’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business 
risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks within the Company’s policies and strategies. The 
significant risk management policies are as disclosed in the audited financial statements.

Hedging Policy

In respect of currency hedging, the risk management policy of the Company is to consider hedging for foreign currency 
transactions based on the total foreign exchange exposure at the end of each month. Hedging transactions will be limited by 
the size of the foreign exchange exposure at the end of the month. In addition, the cash flows of the hedging transactions 
should match the expected cash flows of the underlying foreign currency transactions. All hedging transactions will require 
the prior approval of the Executive Committee.

Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering

51,900,000 new ordinary shares have been issued on 6 June 2007 at $0.33 each in the capital of the Company pursuant 
to the initial public offering of its shares on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“IPO”).

On 30 June 2009, $7 million from the issue of new ordinary shares in connection with the IPO which was identified to 
partially finance the redevelopment of the existing warehousing facilities at 32 Gul Crescent or acquire new warehousing 
facilities, was re-deployed as general working capital. 

As at 28 September 2009, the proceeds from the issue of new ordinary shares pursuant to the initial public offering have 
been used as follows:

$’000 

Gross proceeds from initial public offering 17,127 
Initial public offering expenses (1,617) 

Net proceeds from initial public offering 15,510 
Applied as working capital (5,136)

Balance 10,374
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Report of Directors

The directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Company for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2009.

1.	 DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Hong Pian Tee
Kua Chee Seng
Kua Chee Meng
Kua Eng Wah
Kua Eng Watt
Kua Chee Hong
Hoon Tai Meng
Tan Lye Heng Paul

2.	 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 
of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

3.	 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interest in the shares and 
debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by 
the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, except as follows:

Holdings registered
in the name of director

Holdings in which a director
is deemed to have an interest

  

Ordinary shares
At beginning 

of financial year 
At end of

financial year
At beginning 

of financial year 
At end of

financial year
     

Hong Pian Tee 40,000 90,000 – –
Kua Chee Seng 115,238 115,238 115,238 165,238
Kua Chee Meng 92,333 92,333 92,333 92,333
Kua Eng Wah – – – –
Kua Eng Watt 285,000 285,000 56,700,000 56,700,000
Kua Chee Hong 14,250,000 14,250,000 3,150,000 3,150,000
Hoon Tai Meng 40,000 40,000 – –
Tan Lye Heng Paul 40,000 40,000 – –

There were no changes in the abovementioned interests between the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2009 
and 21 July 2009.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Report of Directors

4.	 DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which 
is required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by 
the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in 
which he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in the financial statements.

5.	 OPTIONS GRANTED

During the financial year, there were no options granted to any person to take up unissued shares in the 
Company.

6.	 OPTIONS EXERCISED

During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up 
unissued shares.

7.	 OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company under option.

8.	 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The independent auditors, LTC LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

Kua Chee Seng Kua Eng Wah
Director Director

Singapore, 28 September 2009
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Statement by Directors

In the opinion of the directors:

(i)	 the financial statements of the Company set out on pages 32 to 62 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company as at 30 June 2009 and the results of the business, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the Company for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii)	 at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors

Kua Chee Seng Kua Eng Wah

Director Director

Singapore, 28 September 2009
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members of Sin Ghee Huat Corporation Ltd.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2009

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sin Ghee Huat Corporation Ltd. (the “Company”) set out on 
pages 32 to 62, which comprise the balance sheet as at 30 June 2009, and the income statement, statement of changes in 
equity and cash flow statement of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This 
responsibility includes:

(a)	 devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised 
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss account and balance 
sheet and to maintain accountability of assets;

(b)	 selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

(c)	 making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion,

(a)	 the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at 30 June 2009 and 
the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b)	 the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

LTC LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore, 28 September 2009
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Income Statement

Note 2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Revenue 4 54,385 92,554
Cost of sales (44,352) (67,394)

 

Gross profit 10,033 25,160
Other operating income 5 445 1,165
Distribution costs (3,461) (3,754)
Administrative expenses (2,839) (4,909)
Other operating expenses (2,382) (241)
Finance costs 6 (188) (414)

 

Profit before income tax 7 1,608 17,007
Income tax expense 8 (111) (3,285)

 

Net profit for the financial year 1,497 13,722
 

Earnings per share (cents) 9 0.7 6.0

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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As at 30 June 2009
Balance Sheet

Note 2009 2008
$’000 $’000

    

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10 33,672 28,221
Trade receivables 11 11,231 21,499
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 12 183 451
Inventories 13 34,644 47,484

 

79,730 97,655
 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 7,547 7,858
Deferred income tax asset 18 328 –

 

7,875 7,858
 

Total assets 87,605 105,513
 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade payables 15 1,785 3,694
Bills payable 16 – 8,920
Other payables 17 726 2,552
Current income tax liability 742 3,341

 

3,253 18,507
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liability 18 – 44

 

Total liabilities 3,253 18,551
 

NET ASSETS 84,352 86,962
 

EQUITY
Capital and reserves
Share capital 19 45,750 45,750
Revaluation reserve 1,461 1,461
Retained earnings 37,141 39,751

 

Total equity 84,352 86,962
 

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Revaluation Retained
capital reserve earnings Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

As at 1 July 2007 45,750 1,461 31,490 78,701

Net profit for the financial year – – 13,722 13,722

Total income recognised for the financial year – – 13,722 13,722
Final dividend paid – – (5,461)(1) (5,461)

As at 30 June 2008 45,750 1,461 39,751 86,962

Net profit for the financial year – – 1,497 1,497

Total income recognised for the financial year – – 1,497 1,497
Final dividend paid – – (4,107)(2) (4,107)

As at 30 June 2009 45,750 1,461 37,141 84,352

(1)	 Final dividend of 3 cents per share less income tax of 18% was paid in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2007.

(2)	 Final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 1.85 cents per share was paid in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Cash Flow Statement

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Cash flows from operating activities
  Profit before income tax 1,608 17,007
  Adjustments for:
    Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 645 683
    Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (10) (41)
    Property, plant and equipment written off 1 1
    Interest expense 119 294
    Interest income (99) (287)

 

  Operating cash flows before working capital changes 2,264 17,657
    Changes in operating assets and liabilities
    Trade receivables 10,268 2,268
    Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 245 (270)
    Inventories 12,840 (2,705)
    Trade payables (1,909) (4,368)
    Other payables (1,826) (869)

 

  Cash generated from operations 21,882 11,713
    Interest received 122 261
    Interest paid (119) (294)
    Income tax paid (3,082) (4,182)

 

Net cash from operating activities 18,803 7,498
 

Cash flows from investing activities
  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 41
  Purchase of property, plant and equipment (335) (114)

 

Net cash used in investing activities (325) (73)
 

Cash flows from financing activities
  Bills payable, net (8,920) 3,423
  Dividend paid (4,107) (5,461)
  Repayment of hire purchase obligations – (63)

 

Net cash used in financing activities (13,027) (2,101)
 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,451 5,324
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 28,221 22,897

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 33,672 28,221
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and bank balances 18,015 9,806
Short-term bank deposits 15,657 18,415

 

33,672 28,221
 

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1.	 GENERAL

The Company (Registration number: 197700475Z) was incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore.

Its registered office and principal place of business is at 32 Penhas Road #01-01 Singapore 208191.

Its principal activities relate to the stockholding and sale of stainless steel products.

The financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors of the Company on the date of the Statement by Directors.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Preparation

(a)	 Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”).

The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollar and prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgment 
in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of accounting estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

(b)	 Adoption of new and revised Singapore Financial Reporting Standards

On 1 July 2008, the Company adopted the new or revised FRS and Interpretations to FRS (INT FRS) that are 
mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the Company’s accounting policies have been made as 
required, in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

The new or revised FRS and INT FRS are not relevant to the Company and did not result in any substantial 
changes to the Company’s accounting policies.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amount 
receivable for the sale of goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and 
sales related taxes. Revenue is recognised as follows:

•	 Sale of goods. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and 
rewards of ownership of the goods to the customers which generally coincides with their delivery and 
acceptance of the goods sold and the collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

•	 Interest income. Interest income is recognised on time proportion basis, using the effective interest 
rate method.

(b)	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Measurement

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. Freehold premises are subsequently carried at 
the revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss. All other items 
of property, plant and equipment are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment loss.

Freehold premises are revalued in at least every 3 years and whenever the carrying amount is likely to differ 
materially from their revalued amount. When an asset is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date 
of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset. The net amount is then restated 
to the revalued amount of the asset.

Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment is taken to revaluation reserve. Any deficit is first 
offset against available revaluation reserve and the balance written off to income statement. On disposal of 
the property, plant and equipment, the remaining revaluation reserve relating to that asset is transferred to 
retained earnings.

Component of cost

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant 
and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of 
acquiring or using the asset.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(b)	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (cont’d)

Depreciation

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate those 
depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Freehold land	 Not depreciated
Freehold premises	 Over remaining useful lives
Leasehold properties	 Over remaining useful lives
Furniture, fixture and fittings	 5 and 10 years
Office equipment	 2 to 10 years
Motor vehicles	 5 years
Plant and machinery	 5 years

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment and the depreciation methods are reviewed annually to 
ensure that the methods and periods of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic 
benefits from items of property, plant and equipment.

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment which are still in use are retained in the financial 
statements.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment is added to the carrying amount of the asset 
when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the standard of performance of the asset before 
the expenditure was made, will flow to the Company and the cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent 
expenditure is recognised as an expense during the financial year in which it is incurred.

Disposal

Gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income 
statement.

(c)	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (weighted average) and net realisable value. Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price of inventories in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(d)	 Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Company becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.

Classification

The Company classifies financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the assets were acquired and is determined at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those maturing later than 12 
months after the balance sheet date which are presented as non-current assets. Loans and receivables 
are presented as “trade receivables”, “other receivables, deposits and prepayments” and “cash and cash 
equivalents” on the balance sheet.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade-date – the 
date on which the Company commits to purchase or sell the assets.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired 
or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. On 
disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is recognised 
in the income statement. Any amount in the fair value reserve relating to that asset is transferred to the 
income statement.

Initial measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence 
exists.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(d)	 Financial assets (cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or 
significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired.

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which 
is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written 
off against the impairment allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
recognised against the same line item in the income statement.

The impairment allowance account is reduced through the income statement in a subsequent period when 
the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can be objectively measured. The carrying 
amount of the asset previously impaired is increased to the extent that the new carrying amount does not 
exceed the amortised cost, had no impairment been recognised in prior periods.

(e)	 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and bills payable are initially stated at fair value less 
directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

Gains or losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through 
the amortisation process.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired. 
The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is 
recognised in the income statement.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated 
as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(f)	 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange traded and over-the-counter 
securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market 
prices used for financial assets are the current bid prices; the appropriate quoted market prices for financial 
liabilities are the current asking prices.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using 
valuation techniques. The Company uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. Where appropriate, quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used. Valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analyses, are 
also used to determine the fair values of the financial instruments.

The fair values of currency forwards are determined using actively quoted forward exchange rates. The fair 
values of interest rate swaps are calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 
at actively quoted interest rates.

The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying 
amounts.

(g)	 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently stated at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
taken to the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings which are due to be settled within twelve months after the balance sheet date are included in 
current borrowings in the balance sheet even though the original term was for a period longer than twelve 
months and an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is completed after 
the balance sheet date and before the financial statements are authorised for issue. Other borrowings due to 
be settled more than twelve months after the balance sheet date are included in non-current borrowings in 
the balance sheet unless the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
twelve months after the balance sheet date.

(h)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and short-term bank deposits with financial 
institutions.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(i)	 Income tax

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 
recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax assets/liabilities are recognised for all deductible/taxable temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
associated companies and joint ventures, except where the Company is able to control the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilized.

Deferred income tax assets/liabilities are measured:

(i)	 at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date; and

(ii)	 based on the tax consequence that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at 
the balance sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expenses in the income statement for the 
period, except to the extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised 
directly in equity. Deferred tax on temporary differences arising from the revaluation gains and losses on 
freehold premises is charged or credited directly to equity in the same period the temporary differences 
arise.

(j)	 Assets under hire purchase

Where assets are under hire purchase agreements, the assets are capitalised in the financial statements and 
the corresponding obligation treated as a liability. The assets so capitalised are depreciated in accordance with 
the Company’s accounting policy on depreciation of property, plant and equipment. The total interest, being 
the difference between the total installments payable and the capitalised amount, is charged to the income 
statement to give a constant rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligation.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(k)	 Operating leases

Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased 
term, are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over 
the lease term on a straight-line basis.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payments required to be made 
to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

(l)	 Impairment of non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or 
indication that these assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. the 
higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine the amount 
of impairment loss.

For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual 
asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other 
assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the 
asset belongs to.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in 
the income statement unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation decrease.

An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided 
that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation 
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior financial years. A reversal of 
impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in the income statement, unless the asset is 
carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. However, to the 
extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously recognised in the income statement, 
a reversal of that impairment is also recognised in the income statement.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(m)	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate of the amount can be made.

(n)	 Currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The financial statements are 
presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at financial year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
the income statement.

(o)	 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Company makes contributions to the state managed retirement benefit schemes, the Central Provident 
Fund. Such contributions are recognised as compensation expense in the same period as the employment 
that gives rise to the contribution.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is made for 
the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

(p)	 Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that 
are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical 
segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other geographical 
segments.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
Notes to the Financial Statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(q)	 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity instruments are taken to equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(r)	 Dividends

Dividends are recognised when the dividends are approved for payment.

3.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Apart from 
information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following summarises the estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year and significant judgements made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policy:

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price of inventories in the ordinary course of business, 
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the prevailing market condition 
in respect of the products. It could change significantly as a result of changes in market conditions. Management 
reassesses these estimates at the balance sheet date.

An allowance for inventories write-down of approximately $2,074,000 (2008: nil) was made during the financial 
year.

The carrying amount of inventories as at 30 June 2009 was approximately $34,644,000 (2008: $47,484,000).

4.	 REVENUE

Revenue represents invoiced value of goods sold less returns.
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5.	 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
2009 2008
$’000 $’000

   

Bad trade debts recovered – 4
Interest income on bank and short-term deposits 99 287
Foreign exchange gain, net 27 76
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 41
Inventories written-back 126 173
Reversal of doubtful trade debts 13 128
Reversal of allowance for damaged/obsolete inventories 60 420
Sundry income 110 36

 

445 1,165
 

6.	 FINANCE COSTS
2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Interest on:
  Bank overdraft 1 1
  Hire purchase – 6
  Bills payable 119 287
Bank charges 68 120

 

188 414
 

7.	 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

This was determined after charging/(crediting):
Allowance for doubtful trade debts 93 8
Allowance for damaged/obsolete inventories 194 186
Allowance for inventories write-down 2,074 –
Bad trade debts written off 11 22
Bad trade debts recovered – (4)
Cost of inventories expended 43,897 66,619
Directors’ fees 150 150
Directors’ remuneration 1,047 2,431
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 645 683
Foreign exchange gain, net (27) (76)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (10) (41)
Operating lease expenses in respect of land 165 173
Operating lease expenses in respect of office equipment 41 41
Property, plant and equipment written off 1 1
Reversal of allowance for damaged/obsolete inventories (60) (420)
Reversal of allowance for doubtful trade debts (13) (128)
Inventories written back (126) (173)
Inventories written off 9 24
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8.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Current income tax 659 3,115
Deferred income tax (Note 18) (372) (8)

 

Tax charge 287 3,107
(Over)/under-provision in prior financial year (176) 178

 

111 3,285
 

The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense by applying the Singapore income tax rate 
of 17% (2008: 18%) to profit before income tax as a result of the following differences:

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Profit before income tax 1,608 17,007
 

Income tax expense at statutory rate 273 3,061
Tax effect on non-allowable items 68 116
Tax effect on non-taxable items (26) (42)
Tax savings on partial exempt income (26) (27)
Others (2) (1)

 

Tax charge 287 3,107
 

9.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the financial year by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

2009 2008
  

Net profit for the financial year ($’000) 1,497 13,722
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 222,000 222,000
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 0.7 6.0

 

Diluted earnings per share was the same as the basic earnings per share as the Company had no dilutive potential 
ordinary shares as at the balance sheet date.
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10.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Cash and bank balances 18,015 9,806
Short-term bank deposits 15,657 18,415

 

33,672 28,221
 

Short-term bank deposits at the balance sheet date had a maturity of less than 3 months from the end of the financial 
year. The effective interest rate of short-term bank deposits as at 30 June 2009 was 0.21% (2008: 1.04%).

11.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Outside parties 11,339 21,527
Less: Allowance for doubtful trade debts (108) (28)

 

11,231 21,499
 

Movements in allowance for doubtful trade debts were as follows:

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

As at beginning of the financial year 28 600
Allowance during the financial year 93 8
Reversal during the financial year (13) (128)
Written off during the financial year –# (452)

 

As at end of the financial year 108 28
 

# denotes amount less than $1,000

12.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Other receivables 58 168
Sundry deposits 31 169
Prepayments 94 114

 

183 451
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13.	 Inventories

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Supplies 35,548 45,137
Goods-in-transit 1,717 2,832

 

37,265 47,969
Less:
Allowance for damaged/obsolete inventories (547) (485)
Allowance for inventories write-down (2,074) –

 

34,644 47,484
 

Movements in allowance for damaged/obsolete inventories were as follows:

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

As at beginning of the financial year 485 719
Reversal during the financial year (60) (420)
Written off during the financial year (72) –
Allowance during the financial year 194 186

 

As at end of the financial year 547 485
 

Movement in allowance for inventories write-down was as follows:

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Allowance during the financial year 2,074 –
 

As at end of the financial year 2,074 –
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At valuation At cost
 

Freehold
premises

Leasehold
properties

Furniture,
fixture and

fittings
Office

equipment
Motor

vehicles
Plant &

machinery Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

       

Valuation/Cost:
As at 1 July 2007 4,650 4,474 597 439 975 451 11,586
Additions – – 23 86 5 – 114
Disposals – – (1) (37) (166) (3) (207)

As at 30 June 2008 4,650 4,474 619 488 814 448 11,493
Additions – – 198 16 82 39 335
Disposals – – (22) (7) (100) –# (129)

       

As at 30 June 2009 4,650 4,474 795 497 796 487 11,699

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 July 2007 18 1,423 493 256 617 351 3,158
Additions 110 257 46 106 122 42 683
Disposals – – –# (37) (166) (3) (206)

As at 30 June 2008 128 1,680 539 325 573 390 3,635
Additions 110 236 51 92 117 39 645
Disposals – – (21) (7) (100) –# (128)

       

As at 30 June 2009 238 1,916 569 410 590 429 4,152

Carrying amount
As at 30 June 2009 4,412 2,558 226 87 206 58 7,547

As at 30 June 2008 4,522 2,794 80 163 241 58 7,858

# Denotes amount less than $1,000

The Company’s freehold premises at 32 Penhas Road Singapore were revalued by an independent professional 
valuation on 29 May 2007 at the estimated open market value on an existing use basis.

Had this asset been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, the carrying amount as at the end of the financial 
year would have been as follows:

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Freehold premises 3,577 3,666
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15.	 TRADE PAYABLES

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Trade payables – outside parties 1,785 3,694
 

16.	 BILLS PAYABLE

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Bills payable (unsecured) – 8,920
 

The effective interest rate of bills payable as at 30 June 2009 ranges from 2.6110% to 3.0163% (2008: 2.709% to 
3.850%) per annum.

17.	 OTHER PAYABLES

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Accrued operating expenses 408 2,030
Accrued unconsumed leave 261 416
Sundries 57 106

 

726 2,552
 

Movements in accrued unconsumed leave were as follows:

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

As at beginning of the financial year 416 218
Reversal during the financial year (416) (218)
Accrual during the financial year 261 416

 

As at end of the financial year 261 416
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18.	 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET/LIABILITY

Deferred income tax asset and liability are offset when there is legally enforceable right to offset current income tax 
asset against current income tax liability and when the deferred income tax relates to the same fiscal authority. The 
amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the balance sheets as follows:

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Tax effect of:
Excess of capital allowance over depreciation (47) (44)
Allowance for inventories write-down and damaged/obsolete inventories 375 –

 

Deferred income tax asset/(liability) 328 (44)
 

Movements in deferred income tax asset/(liability) during the financial year ended 30 June 2009 were as follows:

Capital
allowance

Inventory
allowances Total

$’000 $’000 $’000
   

As at beginning of the financial year (44) – (44)
(Charge)/credit for the financial year (Note 8) (3) 375 372

As at end of the financial year (47) 375 328

Movements in deferred income tax (liability) during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 was as follows:

Capital 
allowance

$’000

As at beginning of the financial year (52)
Reversal during the financial year (Note 8) 8

As at end of the financial year (44)

19.	 SHARE CAPITAL

2009 2008

Number of
shares Amount

Number of
shares Amount

’000 $’000 ’000 $’000
     

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares 222,000 45,750 222,000 45,750
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19.	 SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

Capital Management

The objectives of the Company when managing capital are:

•	 to safeguard the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide 
returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders, and

•	 to maintain a strong capital base so as to sustain the future development/expansion of its business in order 
to maintain investor and creditor confidence in the Company.

The capital structure of the Company consists primarily of equity, comprising issued share capital, revaluation reserve 
and retained earnings.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it in light of changes in economic conditions. It 
may maintain or adjust its capital structure through the payment of dividends, return of capital or issue of new shares. 
There were no changes in the approach to capital management during the financial year ended 30 June 2009.

20.	 STAFF COST

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Wages, salaries and other staff-related expenses 3,670 5,688
Employers’ contribution to Central Provident Fund 322 291

 

3,992 5,979
 

21.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.

Transactions between the Company and the respective related parties during the financial year were as follows:

(a)	 Immediate family members of the directors or substantial shareholders of the Company

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Short term employee benefits 1,009 1,124
 

(b)	 Key management personnel of the Company

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Short term employee benefits 2,163 3,880
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22.	 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2009, the commitments in respect of land and office equipment under non-cancellable operating 
leases were as follows:

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Payable:
Within one year 210 218
From two to five years 612 699
After five years 698 780

 

1,520 1,697
 

As at 30 June 2009, the terms of the operating lease commitments ranged from 1 year to 12 years.

23.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Contracted but not provided for
– Office equipment 15 54

 

24.	 FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS

As at 30 June 2008, the Company has outstanding commitments of $2,225,614 in respect of foreign exchange 
contracts purchased amounting to USD1,632,400. The directors of the Company estimated that the fair value of the 
foreign exchange contracts were negligible.

25.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Product Segments

The Company has essentially one business segment, within the definition of FRS 14, as the risks and returns of its 
products are substantially similar.

During the financial year, the Company made changes in the presentation of its segment information for better 
understanding of its performance in terms of its products. Such information is organized into the following product 
segments:

•	 Bars/plates – which relate to stainless steel products that can be used generally. Pricing of bars/plates is 
based on the grade and weight of the products.
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25.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Product Segments (cont’d)

•	 Pipes/fittings – which relate to stainless steel products that meet the specific usage requirements for such 
products. Pricing of pipes/fittings is based on the grade, weight as well as the specification of the products.

•	 Others – which relate to stainless steel tubings and stainless steel products not usually held by the Company 
as well as cost recoveries.

In presenting information on the basis of the product segments, segment revenue is the revenue reported in the 
income statement that is directly attributable to a product segment and the relevant portion of such revenue and 
expense that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a product segment.

Unallocated items comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other receivables, deposits, prepayments, 
inventories, property, plant and equipment, deferred income tax asset, trade payables, bills payable, other payables, 
current income tax liability, deferred income tax liability, other operating income and operating expenses that cannot 
be directly attributable to a product segment and it is impracticable to allocate them to a product segment.

Year ended 30 June 2009
Bars/Plates

$’000 
Pipes/Fittings 

$’000
Others
$’000

Total 
$’000

     

Revenue 23,856 26,909 3,620 54,385

Gross profit 3,264 5,556 1,213 10,033

Unallocated costs (8,682)

1,351
Other operating income 445
Finance costs (188)

Profit before income tax 1,608
Income tax expense (111)

Net profit for the financial year 1,497

Assets – unallocated 87,605

Liabilities – unallocated 3,253

Capital expenditure – unallocated 335

Depreciation of property, plant and 
  equipment – unallocated 645
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25.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Product Segments (cont’d)

Year ended 30 June 2008
Bars/Plates 

$’000 
Pipes/Fittings 

$’000 
Others
$’000

Total
$’000

     

Revenue 43,829 42,930 5,795 92,554

Gross profit 10,873 11,813 2,474 25,160

Unallocated costs (8,904)

16,256
Other operating income 1,165
Finance costs (414)

Profit before income tax 17,007
Income tax expense (3,285)

Net profit for the financial year 13,722

Assets – unallocated 105,513

Liabilities – unallocated 18,551

Capital expenditure – unallocated 114

Depreciation of property, plant and 
  equipment – unallocated 683

Geographical Segments

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on sales to the respective 
geographical markets, while segment assets and capital expenditure are based on the geographical location of the 
assets.

Revenue by geographical markets:

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

  

Singapore 38,507 65,008
Malaysia 8,425 13,279
Others* 7,453 14,267

 

54,385 92,554
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25.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Geographical Segments (cont’d)

Assets and capital expenditure by geographical locations:

Carrying amounts 
of segment assets

Capital
expenditure

2009 2008 2009 2008
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    

Singapore 84,751 99,084 335 114
Malaysia 2,137 4,607 – –
Others* 717 1,822 – –

  

87,605 105,513 335 114

*	 Others include countries in Asia Pacific such as Australia, Indonesia and Thailand, as well as the Middle East such as the 
United Arab Emirates.

26.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates and interest rates, along with credit, liquidity and cash flow risks. The Company has adopted risk 
management policies that seek to mitigate these risks in a cost-effective manner.

Financial assets that expose the Company to financial risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables and other receivables, deposits and prepayments. Financial liabilities that expose the Company to financial 
risk consist principally of trade payables, bills payable and other payables.

Market Risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from a change in foreign currency exchange rate, which is expected to have an adverse 
effect on the Company in the current and future reporting periods.

The transactional currencies of the Company are Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), United States Dollar (“USD”), Euro 
Dollar (“EUR”), Japanese Yen (“JPY”) and other currencies such as Great Britain Pound (“GBP”), while its reporting 
currency is in SGD. Purchases of stainless steel products are principally denominated in USD while revenue is 
principally denominated in SGD. To the extent that sales and purchases are not matched in the same currency and 
to the extent that timing differences exist between invoicing and collection/payment, the Company is exposed to 
fluctuations in exchange rates, which may materially and adversely affect its operating results.

The risk management policy of the Company is to consider hedging for foreign exchange transactions based on 
the total foreign exchange exposure at the end of each month. The Company also holds cash and cash equivalents 
denominated in USD for working capital purposes.
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26.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Foreign exchange risk (cont’d)

As at 30 June 2009, based on information provided internally, the exposure of the Company to foreign exchange 
risk was as follows:

USD EUR JPY GBP Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

As at 30 June 2009
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 597 – – – 597
Trade and other receivables 315 – – – 315

912 – – – 912
Liabilities
Trade payables (742) (521) – 2 (1,261)

Net currency exposure 170 (521) – 2 (349)

As at 30 June 2008
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 66 – – – 66
Trade and other receivables 185 – – – 185

251 – – – 251
Liabilities
Trade payables (1,993) (492) (332) (155) (2,972)

Net financial liabilities (1,742) (492) (332) (155) (2,721)
Foreign exchange contracts 2,226 – – – 2,226

Net currency exposure 484 (492) (332) (155) (495)

As at 30 June 2009, ceteris paribus, an increase (decrease) in USD/SGD of 1,000 percentage in points would have 
resulted in an unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) of $11,700 (2008: gain (loss) of $36,300) which, accordingly, 
would have been expected to affect net profit for the financial year and equity of the Company.

As at 30 June 2009, ceteris paribus, an increase (decrease) in EUR/SGD of 1,000 percentage in points would have 
resulted in an unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) of $25,600 (2008: loss (gain) $23,100) which, accordingly, 
would have been expected to affect net profit for the financial year and equity of the Company.

As at 30 June 2009, ceteris paribus, an increase (decrease) in JPY/SGD of 1,000 percentage in points would have 
resulted in an unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) of nil (2008: loss (gain) $26,105) which, accordingly, would 
have been expected to affect net profit for the financial year and equity of the Company.

As at 30 June 2009, ceteris paribus, an increase (decrease) in GBP/SGD of 1,000 percentage in points would have 
resulted in an unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) of $700 (2008: loss (gain) $5,800) which, accordingly, would 
have been expected to affect net profit for the financial year and equity of the Company.
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26.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will have an adverse financial effect on the Company’s 
financial conditions and/or results. The Company’s exposure to changes in market interest rates relates primarily to 
its placement in fixed deposits and bills payable to financial institutions.

The risk management policy of the Company is to obtain quotations of interest rates for comparison and to select the 
most favourable interest rates based on the terms and conditions available.

As at 30 June 2009, based on information provided internally, the exposure of the Company to interest rate risk was 
as follows:

Variable rates
Less than 
12 months

Fixed rates
Less than 
12 months Total

$’000 $’000 $’000
   

At 30 June 2009
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 586 15,657 16,243

At 30 June 2008
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 148 18,415 18,563

Liabilities
Bills payable 8,920 – 8,920

As at 30 June 2009, ceteris paribus, an increase (decrease) in interest rate of 100 basis points on bank and cash 
balances would have resulted in an increase (decrease) in interest income of $162,430 per annum (2008: $185,630 
per annum) while an increase (decrease) in interest rate of 100 basis points on bills payable would not have resulted 
in a change in interest expense (2007: $89,200 per annum).

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that companies and other parties will be unable to meet their obligations to the Company 
resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises mainly from trade receivables, 
primarily from Singapore.

The objective of the Company is to seek continual revenue growth while minimizing losses incurred due to increased 
credit risk exposure. The Company manages such risks by dealing with a diversity of credit-worthy customers to 
mitigate any significant concentration of credit risk. Its credit policy includes the evaluation of the credit-worthiness 
of existing and new customers and the monitoring of credit excesses and overdue accounts.
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26.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Credit Risk (cont’d)

As at 30 June 2009, the maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that counterparties fail to perform their 
obligations in relation to each class of financial assets was the carrying amount of these assets in the balance sheet. 
There was no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade receivables. Trade 
receivables that were past due and impaired amounted to $107,000 (2008: $28,100) had been provided for. Trade 
receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related substantially to credit-worthy customers. An analysis of 
the age of trade receivables past due as at 30 June 2009 but not impaired was as follows:

2009 2008
Past due $’000 $’000

  

0 to 3 months 3,407 5,028
3 to 6 months 268 253
Over 6 months 117 106

 

For financial assets such as cash and cash equivalents, the Company minimizes credit risk by dealing exclusively 
with reputable financial institutions.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet financial obligations. 
Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.

The risk management policy of the Company is to monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by its management to finance its operations and meet its financial obligations on a timely manner.

The Company has sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate credit facilities to ensure necessary liquidity. 
As at 30 June 2009, the financial liabilities maturing within 6 months were as follows:

$’000
 

As at 30 June 2009
Trade payables 1,785
Other payables 726

As at 30 June 2008
Trade payables 3,694
Bills payable 8,920
Other payables 2,552

As at 30 June 2009, there were no financial liabilities maturing after 6 months.
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27.	 DIVIDENDS

During the financial year ended 30 June 2009, the Company declared and paid a final one tier tax exempt dividend 
of 1.85 cents per ordinary share less in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

Subsequent to the financial year ended on 30 June 2009, the directors of the Company propose that a final one tier 
tax exempt dividend of 1.00 cent per ordinary share in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2009, amounting 
to $2,220,000 be paid to the shareholders of the Company on 16 November 2009. This dividend is subject to 
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company and has not been included as a 
liability in these financial statements.

28.	 RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain reclassifications have been made to the comparative figures to enhance comparability with current financial 
year’s presentation. As a result, certain line items have been amended on the face of the income statement, balance 
sheet and cash flow statement.

The items reclassified on the face of the Income Statement were as follows:

Previously
reported

After
reclassification

$’000 $’000
  

Cost of sales (67,011) (67,394)
Other operating income 572 1,165
Other operating expenses (31) (241)

The items reclassified on the face of the Balance Sheet were as follows:

Previously
reported

After
reclassification

$’000 $’000
  

Trade payables and bills payable 12,614 –
Trade payables – 3,694
Bills payable – 8,920

The items reclassified on the face of the Cash Flow Statement were as follows:

Previously
reported

After
reclassification

$’000 $’000
  

Under cash flows from operating activities
  – Trade payables and bills payable (945) –
  – Trade payables – (4,368)
Under cash flows from financing activities
  – Bills payable – 3,423
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29.	 NEW OR REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory 
for the Company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or later periods and which the Company 
has not early adopted. The Company’s assessment of the impact of adopting those standards, amendments and 
interpretations that are relevant to the Company is set out below:

FRS 1(R) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)

The revised standard requires:

•	 All changes in equity arising from transactions with owners in their capacity as owners to be presented 
separately from components of comprehensive income.

•	 Components of comprehensive income not to be included in statement of changes in equity.

•	 Items of income and expenses and components of other comprehensive income to be presented either in a 
single statement of comprehensive income with subtotals, or in two separate statements (a separate statement 
of profit and loss followed by a statement of comprehensive income).

•	 Presentation of restated balance sheet as at the beginning of the comparative period when entities make 
restatements or reclassifications of comparative information.

The revisions also include changes in the titles of the primary financial statements.

The Company will apply the revised standard from 1 July 2009 and provide comparative information that conforms to 
the requirements of the revised standard. The key impact of the application of the revised standard is the presentation 
of an additional primary statement, that is, the statement of comprehensive income.
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as at 23 september 2009
statistics of Shareholdings

SHARE CAPITAL
Issued and Paid-Up Capital	 :	 $45,749,836.98
Total Number of Shares	 :	 222,000,000
Class of shares	 :	 Ordinary shares
Voting Rights	 :	 One vote per ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
No. of

Shareholders % No. of Shares %
 

1 - 999 1 0.07 500 0.00
1,000 - 10,000 705 49.03 4,546,000 2.05
10,001 - 1,000,000 715 49.72 46,934,333 21.14
1,000,001 and above 17 1.18 170,519,167 76.81

 

Total 1,438 100.00 222,000,000 100.00
 

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDINGS
Based on the information available to the Company as at 23 September 2009, 27.44% of the issued ordinary shares 
of the Company is held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited is complied with.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 23 SEPTEMBER 2009
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
 

2GS Investment Pte. Ltd. 56,700,000 25.54 – –
Kua Geok Lay Holding Pte. Ltd. 52,635,000 23.71 – –
Kua Chee Hong (Note 1) 14,250,000 6.42 3,150,000 1.42
Ler Bee Chin (Note 1) 3,150,000 1.42 14,250,000 6.42
Kua Eng Watt (Note 2) 285,000 0.13 56,700,000 25.54
Kua Eng Bee (Note 2) – – 56,700,000 25.54

Notes:–

1.	 Kua Chee Hong and his wife, Ler Bee Chin are deemed interested in the shares held by each other.

2.	 Kua Eng Watt and Kua Eng Bee, who each own 33.33% of the shareholding interest in 2GS Investment Pte. Ltd., are interested in 
the 56,700,000 shares in the Company held by 2GS Investment Pte. Ltd.
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as at 23 september 2009
statistics of Shareholdings

LIST OF 21 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %
 

1 2GS INVESTMENT PTE. LTD. 56,700,000 25.54
2 KUA GEOK LAY HOLDING PTE. LTD. 52,635,000 23.71
3 KUA CHEE HONG 14,250,000 6.42
4 KUA PENG CHUAN 10,836,000 4.88
5 KUA PENG KOON 10,240,000 4.61
6 KUA CHEE KENG 5,017,167 2.26
7 LER BEE CHIN 3,150,000 1.42
8 NG CHIT TONG PETER 3,065,000 1.38
9 KUA CHOO SUAN 2,426,000 1.09
10 KUA CHOO GEOK 2,370,000 1.07
11 KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 2,133,000 0.96
12 SUNFIELD PTE LTD 2,000,000 0.90
13 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,293,000 0.58
14 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 1,242,000 0.56
15 HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,108,000 0.50
16 NG SOH HOON 1,030,000 0.46
17 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,024,000 0.46
18 NG SOH LIAN 1,000,000 0.45
19 WATERWORTH PTE LTD 1,000,000 0.45
20 RAFFLES NOMINEES PTE LTD   980,000 0.44
21 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 980,000 0.44

 

Total: 174,479,167 78.58
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

SIN GHEE HUAT CORPORATION LTD.
Company Registration No.: 197700475Z

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Sin Ghee Huat Corporation Ltd. (the “Company”) will 
be held at 32 Penhas Road, #01-01, Singapore 208191 on Wednesday, 28 October 2009 at 11.00 a.m. for the following 
purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and consider the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2009, the Report of Directors and the Independent Auditors’ Report.

Resolution 1

2. To approve the Directors’ fees of $137,000 for the financial year ended 30 June 2009. Resolution 2

3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring in accordance with the Company’s Articles of 
Association:

(a)	 Mr Tan Lye Heng Paul (retiring under Article 107) Resolution 3

(b)	 Mr Hoon Tai Meng (retiring under Article 107) Resolution 4

Mr Tan Lye Heng Paul whom will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain the Chairman of the Audit Committee 

and will be considered independent for purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited.

Mr Hoon Tai Meng whom will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain a member of the Audit Committee and 

will be considered independent for purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 

Limited.

4. To note the retirement of Mr Hong Pian Tee as a Director of the Company who retires in accordance 
with Article 107 and will not be seeking re-election at the Annual General Meeting.

Upon Mr Hong Pian Tee’s retirement at the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting, he will accordingly relinquish his position 

as the Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

5. To declare a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 1.0 cent per share for the financial year ended  
30 June 2009.

Resolution 5

6. To re-appoint Messrs LTC LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.

Resolution 6

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions (with or without amendments) as Ordinary 
Resolutions:

7. SHARE ISSUE MANDATE

THAT pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) 
and the Company’s Articles of Association, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to:

Resolution 7

(i)	 issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of bonus issue, rights issue or 
otherwise; and/or
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(ii)	 make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively “Instruments”) that might or would 
require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 
adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares; and/or

(iii)	 issue additional Instruments convertible into shares arising from adjustments made to the 
number of Instruments

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit; and (notwithstanding the authority conferred 
by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument 
made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force,

provided that:

(1)	 the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares to 
be issued in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution):

(A)	 by way of renounceable rights issues on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the 
Company (“Renounceable Rights Issues”) shall not exceed 100% of the total number 
of issued shares in the capital of the Company excluding treasury shares (as calculated 
in accordance with paragraph (3) below); and

(B)	 otherwise than by way of Renounceable Rights Issues (“Other Shares Issues”) shall 
not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company 
excluding treasury shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (3) below), 
of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis 
to shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 20% of the total number of issued 
shares in the capital of the Company excluding treasury shares (as calculated in 
accordance with paragraph (3) below);

(2)	 the Renounceable Rights Issues and Other Shares Issues shall not, in aggregate, exceed 
100% of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company excluding treasury 
shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (3) below);

	

(3)	 (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose 
of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under paragraphs (1)
(A) and (1)(B) above, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the total number 
of issued shares in the capital of the Company excluding treasury shares at the time this 
Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i)	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or 
shares options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the 
time this Resolution is passed; and

(ii)	 any subsequent bonus issue or consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(4)	 in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with 
the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such 
compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being 
of the Company; and
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(5)	 (unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting) the authority conferred by this 
Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is 
required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

8. PLACEMENT OF SHARES UNDER THE SHARE ISSUE MANDATE AT MORE THAN 10% 
DISCOUNT

THAT notwithstanding Rule 811 of the Listing Manual, the Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised to issue shares and/or Instruments other than on a pro rata basis pursuant to the 
aforesaid general mandate at a discount not exceeding 20% to the weighted average price for trades 
done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement in 
relation to such shares and/or Instruments is executed, provided that:

Resolution 8

(a)	 in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with 
the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such 
compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being 
of the Company; and

(b)	 (unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting) the authority conferred by this 
Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is 
required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

9. AUTHORITY TO GRANT OPTIONS AND TO ISSUE SHARES UNDER THE SIN GHEE HUAT SHARE 
OPTION SCHEME

That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to offer and grant options from time to time 
in accordance with the provisions of the Sin Ghee Huat Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) and, 
pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, to allot and issue from time to time 
such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to 
the exercise of options granted under the Scheme, provided that the aggregate number of shares 
to be issued pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company from time to time, as determined in accordance with 
the provisions of the Scheme.

Resolution 9

AS OTHER BUSINESS

10. To transact any other business that may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting of 
the Company.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of SIN GHEE HUAT CORPORATION 
LTD. will be closed on 5 November 2009 for the preparation of dividend warrants.

Duly completed registrable transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services, 
8 Cross Street, #11-00 PWC Building, Singapore 048424 up to 5.00 p.m. on 4 November 2009 will be registered to determine 
shareholders’ entitlements to the said dividend. Shareholders whose Securities Accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) 
Limited are credited with shares at 5.00 p.m. on 4 November 2009 will be entitled to the proposed dividend.

Payment of the dividend, if approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 28 October 2009, 
will be made on 16 November 2009.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Ms Joanna Lim Lan Sim
Company Secretary

8 October 2009
Singapore

Statement Pursuant to Article 71 of the Company’s Articles of Association

The effect of the resolutions under the heading “Special Business” in this Notice of the Annual General Meeting are:

1.	 Resolution no. 7 is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant 
instruments (such as warrants or debentures) convertible into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such 
instruments; up to a number not exceeding (i) 100% for Renounceable Rights Issues and (ii) 50% for Other Shares 
Issues, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders, provided that the total number 
of shares which may be issued pursuant to (i) and (ii) shall not exceed 100% of the issued shares (excluding treasury 
shares) in the capital of the Company. For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be 
issued, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) 
in the capital of the Company at the time that Resolution No. 7 is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares arising from 
the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share option or vesting of share awards which are outstanding 
or subsisting at the time that Resolution No. 7 is passed, and (b) any subsequent bonus issue or consolidation or 
subdivision of shares.

	 The authority for undertaking 100% Renounceable Rights Issues is proposed pursuant to the SGX-ST’s news release 
of 19 February 2009 which introduced further measures to accelerate and facilitate the fund raising efforts of listed 
issuers.

2.	 Resolution no. 8 is to authorize the Directors to issue new shares to subscribers or placees at a discount of not more 
than 20% to the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the placement 
or subscription agreement is signed.

	 The maximum pricing discount of 20% is proposed pursuant to the SGX-ST’s news release of 19 February 2009 which 
introduced further measures to accelerate and facilitate the fund raising efforts of listed issuers.
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3.	 Resolution no. 9, if passed, will empower the Directors to offer and grant options under the Sin Ghee Huat Share Option 
Scheme and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the exercise of such options under the Sin Ghee Huat Share Option 
Scheme. The aggregate nominal amount of new shares over which the Company may grant options on any date, when 
added to the nominal amount of new shares issued and issuable in respect of (a) all options granted under the Scheme 
and (b) all awards granted under any other share option, share incentive, performance share or restricted share plan 
implemented by the Company and for the time being in force, shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued 
shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company on the day preceding that date.

NOTES:

(1)	 A shareholder of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company (“Meeting”) is entitled to appoint a proxy and 
vote in his stead.

(2)	 A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

(3)	 If the appointer is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer or attorney.

(4)	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 32 Penhas Road, #01-01, Singapore 
208191 not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.
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SIN GHEE HUAT CORPORATION LTD.
Registration Number: 197700475Z
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT

1.	 For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Sin 
Ghee Huat Corporation Ltd.’s shares, this Annual Report 2009 
is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved 
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.	 This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall 
be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported 
to be used by them.

3.	 CPF Investors who wish to vote should contact their CPF 
Approved Nominees.

I/We 	  of

	  

being a member/members of Sin Ghee Huat Corporation Ltd. (the “Company”), hereby appoint:–

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete where appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if 
necessary, to demand a poll, at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 32 Penhas Road, #01-01, 
Singapore 208191 on Wednesday, 28 October 2009 at 11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our 
proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Ordinary Resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting as indicated 
with an “X” in the spaces provided hereunder. If no specified directions as to voting are given, the proxy/proxies will vote 
or abstain from voting at his/their discretion. The authority herein includes the right to demand or join in demanding a 
poll and to vote on a poll.

Ordinary Resolutions For Against

1	 Consideration of the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year 
	 ended 30 June 2009, the Report of Directors and the Independent
	 Auditors’ Report. 	 (Resolution 1)

2.	 Approval of Directors’ Fees for the financial year ended 30 June 2009.	 (Resolution 2)

3(a).	Re-election of Mr Tan Lye Heng Paul as Director of the Company.	 (Resolution 3)

3(b).	Re-election of Mr Hoon Tai Meng as Director of the Company.	 (Resolution 4)

4.	 Declaration of Final Dividend for the financial year ended 30 June 2009. 	 (Resolution 5)

5.	 Re-appointment of LTC LLP as Auditors of the Company.	 (Resolution 6)

6.	 Approval of Share Issue Mandate.	 (Resolution 7)

7.	 Approval of Placement of Shares under the Share Issue Mandate at more than 
	 10% discount.	 (Resolution 8)

8.	 Authority to grant options and to issue shares under the Sin Ghee Huat Share 
	 Option Scheme	 (Resolution 9)

Dated this 	  day of 	  2009

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

	
Signature(s) of Shareholder(s)/Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

IMPORTANT: Please read notes overleaf



Notes:–

1.	 Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as 
defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares 
registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered against 
your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate 
number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If 
no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend 
and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her shareholding 
(expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4.	 Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the 
Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the Meeting in person, and in 
such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy, to the 
Meeting.

2nd fold here

AFFIX 
STAMP

1st fold here

The Company Secretary
SIN GHEE HUAT CORPORATION LTD.

32 Penhas Road
#01-01

Singapore 208191

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 32 Penhas Road, #01-01, 
Singapore 208191 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. 
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under 
the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on 
behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

7.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to 
act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or 
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing 
a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a 
proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 
as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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